
 

 
Did you know? All Peterborough City Council's meeting agendas are available 
online or via the modern.gov app. Help us achieve our environmental protection 
aspirations and view this agenda online instead of printing it.  
 

 

AB 
 
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 9 JUNE 2020 
1.30 PM 
 

VENUE: Peterborough City Council Youtube Page 
 
 
 

AGENDA  

 Page No 

 
1. Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council.  

 
 

 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor 
 

 

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on: 
 

 

 4.1 30 March 2019 
 

3 - 10 

 4.2 12 May 2019 
 

11 - 14 

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters 
 

 

 5.1 19/00307/FUL - Buffingham Kennels, Waterworks Lane, 
Glinton, Peterborough 
 

15 - 30 

 5.2 19/01875/FUL - 30 High Street, Eye, Peterborough, PE6 7UU 
 

31 - 82 

 5.3 20/00235/HHFUL - 184 Mayors Walk, West Town, Peterborough 
 

83 - 90 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack

1

https://www.youtube.com/user/PboroughCityCouncil


Recordings of meetings will be published on the Council’s Youtube Page.  

 
 

Committee Members: 
 

Councillors: G Casey (Vice Chairman), C Harper (Chairman), P Hiller, R Brown, Warren, Hussain, 
Iqbal, Jones, B Rush, Hogg and Bond 

 
Substitutes: Councillors: N Sandford, Simons, M Jamil and E Murphy 

 
Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Dan Kalley on telephone 01733 
296334 or by email – daniel.kalley@peterborough.gov.uk 

 
 
CASE OFFICERS: 
 
Planning and Development Team:  Nicholas Harding, Mike Roberts, Janet Maclennan, David 

Jolley, Louise Simmonds,, Amanda McSherry, Matt Thomson, 
Asif Ali, Michael Freeman, Jack Gandy, and Carry Murphy 

 
Minerals and Waste:   Alan Jones 
 
Compliance:   Clive Dunnett, Julie Robshaw, Glen More, Andrew Dudley 
 
 
NOTES: 
 
1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer, 

Head of Planning and/or Development Management Manager as soon as possible. 
 
2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  

Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.   
 
3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 

implications for that policy, except where expressly stated. 
 
4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 

specifically referred to in the report itself. 
 
5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
 received after their preparation. 
 
 
 

2



 
 MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

MEETING 
HELD AT 1:30PM, ON 

TUESDAY, 10 MARCH 2020 
BOURGES/VIERSEN ROOM, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH 

  
Committee Members Present: Harper (Chairman), Casey (Vice Chairman), Rush, Brown, 
Hiller, Warren, Hussain, Amjad Iqbal, Jones, Hogg and Bond. 
 
Officers Present:  Nick Harding, Head of Planning Peterborough and Fenland 
   Dan Kalley, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
   Stephen Turnbull, Planning Solicitor    

Nick Greaves, Principal Engineer 
 

Others Present:  
  
46. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
  

There were no apologies for absence 
 

47.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations of interest 
  

 
48. MEMBERS’ DECLARATION OF INTENTION TO MAKE REPRESENTATIONS AS 

WARD COUNCILLOR 
 

There were no declarations of interest to make representation as Ward Councillor 

 
49. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND ENFORCEMENT MATTERS 

 
49.1 19/00307/FUL – BUFFINGHAM KENNELS, WATERWORKS LANE, 

PETERBOROUGH 
 

The Committee received a report, which sought planning permission for the 'continued 
use of land and siting of mobile home in connection with, and use of, land, kennels and 
associated fencing as licenced establishment for breeding dogs'. The application 
sought this continuation for a further temporary period of two years.   
 

The Head of Planning introduced the item and highlighted key information. The Officers 

recommendation was to refuse the application. In 2017 a revised application was 

submitted for a two year temporary application. The new application had taken a long 

time to come through as a number of issues had arisen, mainly that a high pressure 

gas mains running next to the site had to be strengthened in order to allow access. 

The key reason for refusal was that the site a part of open countryside and there 

needed to be a viable proposition for the business to run, however there had been no 

3



financial information submitted to date. There were also concerns about noise and 

disturbance and the safety of visitors down the lane where vehicles would park. 

 

John Dadge, the agent and Mr Ludvic Greenhow the applicant, addressed the 

Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 

highlighted included: 

 

 There were no objections from any of the statutory consultees. In addition Glinton 

Parish Council had not raised any objections to the two year extension being proposed. 

 There had been financial information submitted in the form of accounts for a number 

of years. It was concerning that this had not been reported in the papers in front of 

committee.  

 The applicant suffered from severe depression and had moved to the site to live a 

more stress free life. The location was quiet and placed less demands on the applicant. 

The applicant was working within his dog breeding licence that had been granted by 

the council. 

 The applicant had been running his business on site for four years and had no reported 

accidents or incidents during that period.  

 Anyone wishing to adopt a puppy would only be able to come and view them by 

appointment only. Most of the business was conducted over the weekend.  

 Although there was a generator on site this was only used occasionally to power tools 

and would not be used past 10pm. Everything else on site was run using batteries or 

solar power. 

 There was a second caravan on site however this was used for storage. In terms of 

any lights being on these would only be on until 10pm the latest.  

 

Officers at this point confirmed that they were unable to see if any financial information 

had been submitted and requested that the item be deferred to obtain the additional 

information needed in order for the committee to make a considered decision. 

 

RESOLVED:  

 

The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and 

representations. A motion was proposed and seconded to DEFER the application as 

per Officers recommendation. The Committee RESOLVED (Unanimous) to DEFER 

the application. 

 

 

49.2 19/01466/FUL – 23 OLD NORTH ROAD, WANSFORD, PETERBOROUGH, PE8 6LB 
 

The Committee received a report, which sought permission for 2no. two-storey 

detached dwellings, with detached double garages to the rear, including the creation 

of two separate accesses from the shared driveway to serve each of the respective 

dwellings. Each of the proposed dwellinghouses would be situated behind the existing 

stone wall that runs parallel with the grass verge and Old North Road. The existing 

detached garage serving the host dwellinghouse of No. 23 Old North Road would be 

demolished to permit the construction of the dwellinghouse and the garage on Plot 2 

(the southern-most dwelling proposed).  

4



 

Amended plans have been submitted following comments received from the 

Conservation Officer, the Local Highway Authority and the Tree Officer with regards to 

the proposal.  

 

For the remainder of this report, 'Plot 1' refers to the northern-most proposed dwelling 

and 'Plot 2' refers to the southern-most dwelling proposed.  the addition of a mezzanine 

floor to Unit D, with a coverage of approximately 700 sqm. There were no changes 

proposed to the external elevations of the unit. 

 

The Head of Planning introduced the item and highlighted key information from the 

report and the update report. Members were informed that the tree on site that wasn’t 

under a TPO was of higher quality than the TPO for the other tree on site, however it 

wasn’t protected when it should have been.  

 

Richard Clarke, Parish Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to 

questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 The proposed development was set back a long way from the road and it wasn’t going 

to have a detrimental impact on the local scene. 

 Coopers cottage had recently been extended however most of this was not obscuring 

the property the only part that could be argued that was being obscured was the new 

extension. 

 In the recent Local Development Plan there was a ban on building outside of the village 

envelope and this property was tightly built up to the edge of the envelope. The Local 

Development Plan did not leave much space to develop Wansford any further. 

 The density of the buildings although it seemed to be cramped it was feasible for the 

size of the site in question. It was felt that this would not be too damaging to the local 

area. 

 Although the Local Plan was to protect conservation areas it was felt in Wansford that 

it was possible to push back a little on the envelope depending on how this was drawn 

up and the development that was being proposed.  

 Although there had been arguments with regard to loss of amenity it was possible to 

overcome this if the windows were reconfigured. In addition an occupier buyer would 

understand the setting of the application and be willing to prevent the loss of amenity 

wherever possible. 

 

Mr Allen, the applicant, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 

Members. In summary the key points highlighted included 

 

 The applicant had been a resident for 7 years and was happy living in the village. The 

village was a popular place to live. The applicant was aware of the Local Plan and that 

it prevented development outside of the village envelope. 

 The new development was essential to the village and was encouraged by the Parish 

Council. The design had been modified to support the recommendations of planning 

officers. A retainer wall could be installed on site so that there would be a reduction in 

5



any possible digging into the site itself. In addition the applicant was happy to retain 

the Beech tree on site. 

 The owner of number 19 had not lived in the property for a long time and this 

development would help enhance and improve the current look of the site.  

 A number of concessions could be made, most notably to fill in or remove the window 

of the master bedroom to prevent loss of amenity. In addition the applicant was happy 

to remove the double garage at the front of the property and to drop the extension on 

the existing property to a single storey extension 

 The applicant was keen to retain the beech tree and work with officers to retain the 

tree in the most appropriate way. Furthermore the applicant was willing to work on any 

potential designs to prevent overlooking. 

 

The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in 

summary, key points raised and responses to questions included: 

 

 It was possible to condition the beech tree, however officers would still have concern 

over the 2m level drop at the top of the embankment. It was difficult to see how this 

could be dealt with and not adversely affect the beech tree in some form. 

 Although there had been some concessions from the applicant the planning officer 

was still minded to retain the refusal for the application. 

 If there was some form of excavation on site then the left over material could be used 

to cover the roots of the beech tree. The planning officer stated that doing this could 

cause compaction on the roots of the tree and cause a number of issues later on. 

 It was argued that the decision could be deferred to allow for officers to work with the 

applicant to address any remaining issues.  

 The difference in levels was not a planning consideration. The more pressing 

concern on the site was the tree that was protected by the TPO. 

 Members took note of the support of the application by the Parish Council. There 

were a number of reasons why this application should be supported as long as there 

was a condition around the master bedroom window and any impact that this would 

have on loss of amenity. 

 The application would enhance the street scene and bring much needed 

development to Wansford. The support of the Parish Council had enhanced the 

application. 

 Although it seemed that the size of the houses being proposed were more than the 

site could handle the applicant had made a number of concessions to alleviate the 

potential impact. 

 

A proposal was put forward to grant the application with a condition to delegate to 

officers to look at the rear windows of the property (9 for, 2 against) 

 

RESOLVED:  

 

 The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and 

representations. A motion was proposed and seconded to GRANT the application 

against Officers recommendation. The Committee RESOLVED (9 For, 2 Against) to 

GRANT the planning permission subject to relevant conditions delegated to officers.  

6



 

REASON FOR THE DECISION: 

 

The proposal is considered to be acceptable having been assessed in light of all 

material planning considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the 

development plan and for the specific reasons given below. 

 

49.3 19/01871/R3FUL – KEN STIMPSON COMMUNITY SCHOOL, STANILAND WAY, 
WERRINGTON 

 
The Committee received a report, which sought permission for changing the use of 

part of the existing school playing fields which currently has open access to the public, 

to enclosed school playing fields by way of the erection of 2.4 metre high fencing. It is 

proposed for public use to be maintained, with out of school hour’s public access. The 

proposal also seeks planning permission for the construction of a hard surfaced 

footpath to the east of the school site, formalising an existing pedestrian desire line 

into the school site. 

 

The Head of Planning introduced the item and highlighted key information from the 

report. The Officer recommendation was for approval. There would still be a significant 

amount of green and open space available even after the fencing had been put in. 

 

Councillors Judy and John Fox, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and 

responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted 

included: 

 

 It wasn’t clear why the fencing was needed, however if it was then an alternative 

location on site would be beneficial. It was also suggested that the committee defer 

the item for officers to investigate the possibility of changing the fencing to a different 

location. 

 The current proposals would mean that the fence would be seen from three sides by 

residents living nearby and that this was an eyesore. If the fence was to be moved it 

would only be seen from one side by local residents. 

 It was important that children were safeguarded however the school and officers 

needed to look further at ways of minimising the impact on local residents. This was 

also mentioned by Werrington neighbourhood community. 

 There hadn’t been any mention or issues raised in relation to safeguarding at the 

school.  

 

David Barsby and Tony Forster in objection, addressed the Committee and responded 

to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

 

 There had been 43 letters of objection to the proposal and only two in support. These 

objections were for a number of reasons a number of which highlighted the concern 

that the school and future academy trust were land grabbing and forcing the local 

community to pay for using the facilities and playing fields. 

 If the application was to go ahead the assets would transfer to the school and be lost 

to the public forever.   

7



 The issue of safeguarding was an emotive one. There had been no evidence of any 

incidents relating to the fields. Ofsted did not require any form of fencing in terms of 

safeguarding. The fence would lead to a loss of amenity space for the local community 

and would be an eyesore for those living in neighbouring properties. 

 When children were in school it was the schools responsibility to look after the children 

and ensure they were kept in a safe and secure environment. Even with the fence 

there could be no assurances that children would be kept safe as it was possible for 

someone to throw objects over the fence.   

 The risk to children needed to be proportionate, if there had been no issues before it 

was unclear why a fence was now needed.  

 There had been lots litter left by school children when it came to using the fields in the 

evening however there was little evidence of broken glass or dog fouling on the fields 

themselves.  

 Children who were using the fields during school time were always monitored by the 

staff. In addition there was no evidence that dogs would be walked on the fields when 

children were using them.  

 There was no anti-social behaviour currently taking place on the fields.  

 

Mr Bryan Erwin, applicant, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from 

Members. In summary the key points highlighted included: 

  

 The issue of safeguarding was important, it was an important ofsted issue for which 

the school had responsibility to keep children safe. It was not a duty of staff to mitigate 

risks simply by not having a fence, it was something the school needed. There had 

also been reports of anti-social behaviour in the area. 

 In the schools view there were no alternatives available outside of having the fence 

erected. 

 The location of the fence had been decided upon following advice from the Local 

Authority and vivacity who would use the pitches outside school hours. 

 As dog walkers use the area there was an issue to health and safety and no way that 

this could be minimised. There was no control over what residents did with their dogs. 

 The community would still be able to use the playing fields after school hours and 

would be welcomed by Vivacity.  

 The alternative proposal for the fence to be erected on the south side was not viable. 

This could become an alley way for anti-social behaviour. In addition the area was 

poorly light. 

 

The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in 

summary, key points raised and responses to questions included: 

 

 Officers confirmed that they only had control over planning permission and not over 

ownership of the land. This was not a planning consideration. In terms of ownership 

this was a different legal area and not covered as part of this application. 

 The school had a responsibility of ensuring children were going to be kept safe in the 

school environment. The introduction of the fencing would make children safer in 

case of any future potential incidents. 

8



 There were concerns over dog fouling, although this hadn’t been raised as a 

particular issue it was still a health and safety issue for children. 

 One of the most important aspects of being a Councillor was to safeguard children. 

 Although it was essential to have fencing to protect children it should be looked at 

further to see if there were any alternative locations on site for this to be erected. 

 Some members queried how the fence would be of any benefit to the school as there 

had been no issues previously. There had been no solid evidence presented so far 

as to the need for the fence. 

 Having Vivacity mange the site would be a good thing, they would have more control 

over the site and those using it.  

 

RESOLVED:  

 

The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and 

representations. A motion was proposed and seconded to go with the Officers 

recommendation and GRANT the application. The Committee RESOLVED (7 for, 3 

against, 1 abstention) to GRANT the planning permission subject to relevant 

conditions delegated to officers.  

 

REASON FOR THE DECISION: 

 

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having 

been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 

relevant policies of the development plan and specifically: - The proposal would 

maintain public use of the POS, albeit in a formalised manner, and would not result in 

the loss of existing playing fields. Furthermore, the proposal would be of benefit to the 

pupils of the school through improved safeguarding. The principle is therefore 

considered acceptable in accordance with paragraphs 94 and 07 of the NPPF, and 

Policy LP23 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019); - The proposed development 

would not unacceptably harm the character or appearance of the site or surrounding 

area, and would accord with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough local Plan (2019); - The 

proposed development would not unacceptably harm the amenity of adjoining 

neighbours, and therefore accords with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan 

(2019); and - The proposal would not harm trees of key landscape and visual amenity 

value, in accordance with Policy LP29 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

 

 

 

Chairman  

1:30pm – 3.58pm 

9



This page is intentionally left blank

10



 
 MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

MEETING 
HELD AT 2:00PM, ON 

TUESDAY, 12 MAY 2020 
ZOOM VIRTUAL CONFERENCE 

  
Committee Members Present: Harper (Chairman), Casey (Vice Chairman), Rush, Brown, 
Hiller, Warren, Hussain, Amjad Iqbal, Jones, Hogg and Bond. 
 
Officers Present:       Nick Harding, Head of Planning, Peterborough and Fenland 
   Dan Kalley, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
   Stephen Turnbull, Planning Solicitor    

 
 

Others Present:  
  
50. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
  

There were no apologies for absence. 
 

51.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
  
52. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 18 FEBRUARY 2020 

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2020 were agreed as true and 

accurate record. 

 
53. PLANNING & ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE TEMPORARY 

DECISION-MAKING ARRANGEMENTS DURING COVID19 RESTRICTIVE PERIOD 
 
 

The Head of Planning introduced the item and explained that, due to the restrictions 

currently in place, it was necessary to look at how planning decisions could be made 

on items that would normally be presented to the Planning and Environmental 

Protection Committee. Different authorities had responded in different ways, with some 

authorities continuing with meetings on a virtual basis whilst others had adjusted the 

delegations to officers. 

 

The proposed scheme related to applications usually presented to the Committee and 

suggested that applications were initially considered by the Chair and Group 

Representatives as to their suitability for the decision to be delegated to officers. 

Should feedback suggest a preference for the application to go before committee in 

the public interest, a normal planning meeting would be held virtually. The only change 

to the current meeting format would be to ask speakers to submit a written text in 

11



advance which would be distributed to all Committee Members as a safeguard should 

the speaker loose access to the meeting and not be reconnected. 

 

The Planning and Environmental Protection Committee debated the report and in 

summary, key points raised and responses to questions included: 

 

 Local Ward Members had the opportunity to comment or call in all planning 

applications at the initial consultation stage and any comments made would be 

included in the report to the Chairman and Group Leaders in the normal way. The 

views of the Ward Members would enable the Chairman and Group 

Representatives in providing feedback. 

 The opinions of the Chairman and Group Representative would be reported to the 

Head of Planning who would consider all comments before deciding whether to 

determine the decision or refer to the Planning and Environmental Protection 

Committee. An application which had caused strong feedback would be referred 

to the Committee. 

 Officers and Members considered that it would be difficult to propose a maximum 

number of applications to be considered at one meeting as this would depend on 

the scale and complexity of each application and would be a more appropriate 

consideration when structuring meetings. 

 Advice regarding the continuing site visits was difficult at this stage as, due to the 

changing situation, any advice given may not be relevant at the time of the actual 

visit. Visits would be based on the government guidance in place at the time the 

committee agenda was being prepared with consideration given to the health and 

well-being of all concerned. It was currently not considered safe to carry out site 

visits. Future visits would be considered on a case by case basis. 

 Usual transport provided for site visits could be adapted with all Members arriving 

to site independently and socially distance whilst on site when a visit was deemed 

necessary. 

 The Council did not have a drone or a drone operating licence for use in planning 

applications. However any technologies would be looked into, whether this would 

involve the use of video as an alternative to a physical site visit. 

 Members thanked the Democratic Services Team and Officers for working to get 

virtual meetings up and running and welcomed future applications to be heard via 

virtual committee. 

 

RESOLVED:  

 

The Planning Environment Protection Committee considered the report and debate by 

Officers and Members. The Committee RESOLVED (unanimously) that:  

 

 The Head of Planning be given authority to determine the agenda item subject to 

consultation with the Committee Chairman and Opposition Group Representatives 

(or the substitutes for these three individuals).  

 The Chairman & Opposition Group Representatives have 2 working days to 

respond to the consultation.  

12



 The outcome of the consultation will either be that the head of Planning will 

determine the item in accordance with the officer recommendation OR that the 

item will be presented to a virtual meeting of the normal committee.  

 The virtual committee meetings will allow for public speaking / members questions 

(as per normal arrangements) in the usual way and shall be broadcast to the 

public. 

 

 

 

 

Chairman  

2.00pm – 2.25pm 

13



This page is intentionally left blank

14



THE SITE

Print Date: 19/02/2020

Planning Committee Location Plan - 19/00307/FUL - Buffingham Kennels

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:1,000

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

Scale
15



This page is intentionally left blank

16



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Item No. 1 
 
Planning and EP Committee  
 
Application Ref: 19/00307/FUL  
 
Proposal: Proposed two-year temporary continuation of use of land and siting of 

mobile home in connection with, and use of, land, kennels and associated 
fencing as licenced establishment for breeding dogs 

 
Site: Buffingham Kennels, Waterworks Lane, Glinton, Peterborough 
 
Applicant: T/A Buffingham Miniature Schnauzers 
Agent: Barker Storey Matthews 
 
Referred by: Head of Development and Construction 
Reason for Call In:  Level of public interest 
 
Site visit: 29.03.2019 
 
Case officer: Mr M A Thomson 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 453478 
E-Mail: matt.thomson@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: REFUSE   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
The application site extends to approximately 0.11 ha and is located on the south side of 
Waterworks Lane, Glinton, directly south of Woodcroft Grange Boarding Kennels. The site is  
accessed some 150m to the west of the side of Woodcroft Villas, however there is a pedestrian 
gate to the immediate east of Woodcroft Grange linking the application site to the public highway.  
 
The site is outside both the urban area and village settlement boundary, and is therefore land 
defined as within the open countryside.  
 
There is a dwelling directly to the north of the site, associated with the Woodcroft Grange Boarding 
Kennels, and two dwellings fronting Waterworks Lane approximately 150m to the west (Woodcroft 
Villas).  The nearest dwelling to the east, ‘Birch Trees', is some 190m from the application site. 
Other than these dwellings, the site is isolated in character and surrounded by agricultural land. 
There is a high hedgerow on the south side of Waterworks Lane which precludes direct views of 
the site.  The Gas Compressor site lies approximately 140m to the south. 
 
A high pressure gas pipeline (HPP) runs on a north/south axis to the west of the application site 
and the Boarding Kennels.  
 
The site is operating as a dog breeding business; breeding miniature schnauzers, and trading 
under the name of 'Buffingham Miniature Schnauzers'. 
 
Pre-Amble 
It is understood that the Applicant previously operated the Woodcroft Grange boarding kennels 
directly to the north of the site. The site has now been sold and is no longer within the Applicant's 
control.  
 
In 2017, a temporary and personal planning permission was permitted under App Ref: 

17



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

17/00022/FUL for the 'change of use of the site to dog breeding business, including retention of 
residential mobile home, timber outbuildings, associated infrastructure and fencing’ 
 
 
This permission included the following:  
- Two timber whelping kennels on the western side of the site of 33sqm and 25sqm. The sheds are 
single storey to a maximum ridge height of 3m; 
- A mobile home (caravan) located on the eastern side of the site of approximately 16sqm; 
- Two small sheds housing a w/c and generator; and 
- Division of the site into sections defining dog runs, garden, etc. 
 
Condition 1 of this 2017 permission required that the permitted dog breeding use to cease on or 
before 17th March 2019, with associated structures removed. However, at the time of writing this 
report, the business is still operating in situ.  
 
The information in support of this 2017 application stated that there would be up to 12 litters of 
puppies per year, with an average of 5 pups per litter. Therefore it was accepted that there was a 
functional need for a worker to be present on site for the majority of the time due to the welfare of 
the dogs, and for security reasons. The Applicant is fully employed at Buffingham. 
 
The reason for allowing a temporary planning permission was to '... establish whether the business 
is financially viable...' and to '... allow the LPA to monitor the use of the site and its compatibility 
with neighbouring uses'.  
 
Since this permission was granted, an additional caravan has been introduced to the site without 
the benefit of planning permission, which was until recently occupied by a family member.  
 
Proposal 
The application seeks planning permission for the 'continued use of land and siting of mobile home 
in connection with, and use of, land, kennels and associated fencing as licenced establishment for 
breeding dogs'.  The application seeks this continuation for a further temporary period of two years.   
 
Amended plans have been received which propose a satellite parking area to the west. This is 
discussed in further detail below.  
 
2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
16/01600/FUL Proposed siting of mobile home in 

connection with use of land, kennels and 
associated fencing as licensed 
establishment for breeding dogs 
(retrospective) 

Withdrawn 
by Applicant  

17/10/2016 

17/00022/FUL Change of use of the site to dog breeding 
business, including retention of residential 
mobile home, timber outbuildings, 
associated infrastructure and fencing 
(Retrospective) - Resubmission 

Permitted  13/03/2017 

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Submission) 
 
LP02 - The Settle Hierarchy and the Countryside  

18



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

The location/scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Proposals 
within village envelopes will be supported in principle, subject to them being of an appropriate 
scale. Development in the open countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met. 
 
LP03 - Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development  
Provision will be made for an additional 21,315 dwellings from April 2016 to March 2036 in the 
urban area, strategic areas/allocations. 
 
LP11 - Development in the Countryside  
Part C: Mobile Homes/Temporary Dwellings in the Countryside- Applications will be considered in 
the same way as permanent dwellings. 
 
Part D: New Dwellings in the Countryside- Permission for a permanent dwelling in the countryside 
for an agricultural worker will only be granted to support existing agricultural activities on a well-
established agricultural unit subject to demonstration of a functional need which cannot be met by 
an existing dwelling or conversion. 
 
Part E: The Rural Economy- Development involving the expansion or conversion of an existing 
employment use/building or use for tourism/leisure will be supported provided it is an appropriate 
scale, would not adversely affect the local community/services and would not cause harm to the 
character of the area and would be accessible. 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development- Permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 
only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 

19



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
LP27 - Landscape Character  
New development in and adjoining the countryside should be located and designed in a way that is 
sensitive to its landscaping setting, retaining and enhancing the landscape character. 
 
LP32 - Flood and Water Management  
Proposals should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk management in line with the NPPF and 
council's Flood and Water Management SPD. Sustainable drainage systems should be used 
where appropriate. Development proposals should also protect the water environment. 
 
LP33 - Development on Land Affected by Contamination  
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused. 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
Glinton Parish Council  
Objection - Parish council noted that the application arises as the current temporary planning 
permission is coming to an end and that the Applicant is seeking to make the present 
arrangements permanent. We are opposed to granting approval on a permanent basis, but would 
not oppose a further temporary extension providing that any further temporary permission is 
personal to the applicant. 
 
Health & Safety Executive  
No objection - Does not advise against the granting of planning permission. 
 
National Grid & Cadent Gas  
No objection – Further to the provision of the satellite parking area to the west, National Grid 
withdraw their objection. Due to the presence of Cadent and/or National Grid apparatus in 
proximity to the specified area, the contractor should contact Plant Protection before any works are 
carried out to ensure the apparatus is not affected by any of the proposed works.  
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services  
No objection - Subject to a condition being attached with respect to the provision and retention of 
the satellite parking and turning area.  
 
PCC Pollution Team  
No objection – It is understood that during winter, a generator is running 24hrs per day, which can 
clearly be heard at night. Details of any plant should be submitted to the LPA for assessment.  
 
PCC Waste Management  
No objection. 
 
Environment Agency  
No objection - The siting of the mobile home, kennels and fencing are within Flood Zone 1.  
 
Part of the access road for the site is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3. Your Authority may 
therefore wish to ensure that a Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan is obtained prior to determining 
the application and that your Emergency Planning staff are consulted on its contents. 
 
Welland & Deeping Internal Drainage Board  
No objection. 

20



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 6 
Total number of responses: 5 (including the Parish Council) 
Total number of objections: 5 
Total number in support: 0 
 
3no. letters of objection have been received from two addresses raising the following concerns: 
 
- Cars park in a passing place on the public highway; 
- Highway safety; 
- There is no street lights or footpath;  
- Noise from generator; 
- A second caravan has been placed on site; 
- There are additional family members living on site; 
- A new gated entrance has been provided along a field margin, adjacent to the passing place; 
- The site no longer purely breeds Schnauzers;  
- The site is in an unsustainable location; and 
- The off-road parking area would disturb neighbours due to noise and illumination, i.e. coming and 
going of vehicles and visitors, as well as occupiers of the site.  
 
Councillor Holdich has also objected to the application on the basis of the following: 
 
Noise 
Noise from the steel gates and chain being dragged opened and closed at all hours of the day and 
night. This can be heard from the front room and the bedrooms (Woodcroft Villas). Headlights from 
the vehicles shine through the front room and bedrooms. Access to either end of the site will 
aggravate the neighbours dogs which bark at anything that moves and already cause a nuisance. 
 
Access 
The Applicant has submitted his application on the basis of requiring access to the rear and side of 
our property to drive on and park; however, since he received planning approval from 
Peterborough City Council (reference 17/00022/FUL dated 9/1/17), he has only ever used the 
highway passing lane along Waterworks Lane and not the access he had originally been granted. 
This access was used for approximately 6 weeks. This has caused untold issues with the traffic; 
businesses and residential alike, especially during peak times, since he and his wife insist on 
parking their individual cars plus those of their customers. Further to this, the applicant has failed to 
mention to the council that there is currently an associate/friend of his living in a caravan with his 
van on the access point (driveway) he is applying for. This is blocking the very same access point 
he claims he requires for his business use.  
 
Mr. Glen More, who works for the Council, visited to enquire about the occupant of the caravan on 
the site. Since we know very little about him, on a personal level, he went to visit him. The 
occupant advised Mr. More that he was living on the land in order to help clear it up and that the 
caravan was a wood and tool shed. We can confirm that he has been living in the caravan as his 
permanent residence and has not been 'employed' to help clear the site as stated since nothing 
has been done. 
 
The Applicant has also created his own path to his residence and kennels down the side of the 
farmer's field margin by cutting a hole through the farmer's hedgerow in order to create a walkway. 
This has disturbed the habitat corridor for the flora, fauna, vertebrates and invertebrates that live in 
this part of the countryside. 
 
Emergency service access 
Since the applicant lives in a caravan in a field, emergency access for him and his potential 
customers is restricted especially as he keeps all gates padlocked. In the event of an emergency, 

21



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

access could be denied. There are 2 main gas pipes situated in the field that the applicant 
occupies. In order for any vehicles to traverse this land, some sort of bridge or support to protect 
the pipework would have to be erected. 
 
Gas pipes 
There are main gas supply pipes running across the field where the applicant lives. Potentially, any 
vehicles, particularly a fire tender, if able to gain access, would only be able to only go as far as the 
pipes due to the risk of them fracturing. 
 
Dangers and hazards 
Any potential customer's requiring wheelchair access would find it very difficult to use their vehicle 
along the habitat corridor the applicant has created. If approval for original access was granted, 
due to there not being any form of proper hard standing, those with balance issues would find this 
especially difficult. Also, further to this along the side of this house, there are a number of scrap 
vehicles, glass, bricks, general rubble, sharp metal, disused farm machinery, disused containers 
and trailers, metals and contaminants marring the site. This is where any customers would have to 
walk and is where he applied to use. 
 
Greenhow Paddock 
The applicant previously owned two horses. Since they escaped on numerous occasions, the 
applicant sold them on, therefore the Greenhow paddock is no longer required. 
 
Business 
The applicant has stated that he is breeding miniature Schnauzers. It has been brought to my 
attention that this is possibly no longer the case and that he is looking to start breeding Cocker 
Spaniels. Due to the overall condition of the site, any potential customers run the risk of injury 
through trips, slips and falls en route to see the animals.  
 
Miscellaneous 
The applicant has identified his 'green credentials' by stating that he is environmentally aware and 
conscious of his responsibilities. However, running a petrol generator up to 24 hours a day 
throughout the winter, which will entail fumes, gases and noise, will potentially nullify any carbon 
neutrality he hopes to gain from the 2 solar panels he uses to run it. 
 
When reviewing the original Barker Storey Matthews conclusion, there is some new information to 
bring to your attention: 
 
1) When this application was originally submitted, the Applicant was renting the kennels next to the 
site and was not "an existing local business" located within the countryside etc, 
 
2) As per the original application (12-047/jsd/jh) the applicant applied for permanent residence for 
himself, his wife and his grandson to live in a caravan on this site. Since this application, the 
applicant's grandson has not been living on site for at least 10 months. Further to this, the 
applicant drove his grandson to and from school and he was not walked or cycled there with the 
applicant's wife, as stated on his application.  
 
3) According to application for planning permission (17/00022/FUL), it states clearly that the 
applicant, should be wish to change the scheme in any way, must adhere to the approved plans or 
advise the council of any changes. This has been contravened since he has: added another an 
extra caravan to the site and he uses the passing lane on Waterworks Lane to park his, his wife 
and visitors vehicles. The applicant has also reduced the length of his property by placing the 
orchard, garden/vegetable garden on the outside of the existing 1m picket fence line. 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 
a) Principle of development  

22



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

b) Flood risk 
c) Access and parking 
d) Existing and future occupier amenity 
e) Gas Compressor site 
f) Personal circumstances  
g) Other matters 
 
a) Principle of Development 
The 2017 application identified that the proposed dog breeding business was an appropriate use in 
a rural location.   Whilst the planning policy context has changed in the intervening period, with the 
adoption of the Peterborough Local Plan 2016-2036, Officers do not consider that there are any 
material changes such that a different conclusion should be reached in this regard.  
Notwithstanding this, the development included structures and a residential caravan, and in light of 
this, a temporary consent was granted in accordance with Policy PP7 (now replaced by LP11) to 
enable the Applicant to demonstrate that the business was financially viable, a policy requirement.  
 
The current proposal seeks a continuation of the previous temporary permission, for a further two 
year period. 
 
Policy LP11 (Part D) is of key note, as this relates to residential dwellings within the open 
countryside.  It advises that permanent new dwellings will not be permitted in relation to newly 
established enterprises however planning permission may be granted for temporary dwellings (up 
to a period of 3 years) if a functional need can be established, there is a clear intention to develop 
the business and that it has been planned on a sound financial basis.  However of key note is the 
following:  ‘After the three year temporary permission has expired, permission will only be granted 
for a permanent dwelling if the above criteria have been met. A further temporary period will not be 
permitted’. 
 
As the previous temporary permission has now lapsed, the current proposal, whilst seeking a 
further temporary period, must be considered against the policy criteria within LP11 for a 
permanent dwelling as a further temporary consent is strictly contrary to the policy.   
 
Policy LP11 (Part D) refers to new dwellings in the countryside relating to agricultural workers, 
forestry and other enterprises where a countryside location is essential. Such proposals for 
permanent dwellings in the open countryside will only be supported for existing agricultural 
businesses on well-established agricultural units providing that: there is a functional need for a 
worker to be at the site for all or most of the time; there is a need for a full time worker; that the 
business has been running for 3 years and has been profitable for at least one of them; that the 
business is financially sound and is expected to remain so; and that there are no other buildings on 
site or near to the site that could be occupied. 
 
At the time of writing this report, and despite the request of Officers, no financial information has 
been submitted in relation to the business use to support the application. Therefore, it is not 
possible to determine that the enterprise has been planned on a sound financial basis and has 
been profitable. As the business has been in place for more than three years and no financial 
information has been submitted, it is not possible to support a permanent consent..  
 
It is noted that the 2017 decision only permitted a two year temporary consent, however it is 
understood that the business has been in situ since 2016 and has therefore had ample time in 
which to develop/establish and demonstrate long-term financial viability.   
 
Further to this, it has not been demonstrated that the business supports a full time worker, and it 
has not been demonstrated that the functional need cannot be fulfilled by an existing dwelling, or 
the conversion of any existing building in the area, or any other existing accommodation in the area 
which is suitably and available for occupation by the worker concerned.  
 
As such, the proposed development would fail to accord with Policy LP11, Part D (m, n and o) of 

23



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
Letters of representation have advised that the Applicant breeds other dogs, and is no longer 
limited to Schnauzers. If this is the case, the business case would need to be updated to reflect 
this, however as no financial information has been submitted it is not possible to clarify whether 
this is indeed correct.  
 
b) Flood Risk 
The Environment Agency has raised no objections to the proposal, however have advised that, as 
the access is within Flood Zones 2 and 3, a Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan should be 
secured pre-determination. Given that the operation has been in situ since 2016 (aerial views) it is 
considered reasonable to secure this information by condition should planning permission be 
granted.  
 
c) Access and Parking 
Further to the receipt of amended plans, which has formally laid out the parking arrangement on 
land to the west referred to as the satellite parking area, the Local Highway Authority (LHA) has 
raised no objection to the proposal subject to the parking and area of turning being provided.  
 
The LHA has advised that motorists parking within the passing place along Waterworks Lane 
should be avoided, and have sought that a suitably worded condition be appended to this effect.  
However, it is not possible to use planning conditions to prevent persons parking on the public 
highway where it would otherwise be safe and legal to do so. Highway enforcement would be the 
responsibility of the Police.  
 
Subject to the provision of the satellite parking area, vehicles would not be parked on the public 
highway, therefore the proposed continued use would not result in a highway safety hazard and 
would be in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
d) Existing and Future Occupier Amenity  
As set out within the submitted Supporting Statement (16-030/JSD/jh), the amount of activity 
associated with the business is not due to increase over and above the 2017 temporary consent.  
However, it is noted from letters of representation that the breed of dogs which are bred on site 
may change, which in turn may increase or indeed decrease the amount of activity on the 
application site.   
 
However, a material change to the 2017 application is the resolved objection raised by National 
Grid to the use of the field for access due to the presence of a high pressure gas pipeline (HPP). 
To resolve this issue Officers advised, in good faith, that it may be possible to overcome this issue 
by forming a dedicated parking area to the west.  Amended plans have been secured to reflect 
this. 
 
However, this parking area would result in a future amenity issue as the owner/occupier of the 
breeding business, friends and family, and customers, would park in this location which is in close 
proximity to two unrelated residential dwellings. In this part of the City, residents would largely have 
very good levels of privacy, peace and amenity, notwithstanding the coming and going of vehicles 
travelling to the Water Works at the end of the Lane. The formalisation of parking in this location for 
use by the business would result in unacceptable levels of noise and general disturbance to 
neighbouring occupiers, particularly given visitors could arrive at any time of the day, at any time of 
the week.  
 
Further, there are concerns that visitors may be forced to walk along Waterworks Lane if the field 
became waterlogged. Waterworks Lane is a 60mph road, it is unlit and is not served by a 
pedestrian footpath. Therefore, whilst there is no highway safety objections, Officers consider that 
access along Waterworks Lane would pose an unacceptable danger to persons accessing the 
application site.   
 

24



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

The proposal would result in unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance to residents adjacent to 
the proposed car parking area, and the site would provide a safe place of access for future 
occupiers and visitors. As such the proposal is considered to be contrary to Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
With respect to comments received from the Council’s Pollution Control Officer, and letters of 
representation, it is understood that the site is served by a generator that operates throughout the 
day and night, particularly during winter months. If planning permission were granted, conditions 
could be attached to secure details of a generator that could ensure it operated within acceptable 
noise limitations such that harm to neighbour amenity did not arise.  
 
e) Gas Compressor Site 
The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) are a statutory consultee for certain developments within 
the consultation distance of major hazard sites/pipelines. The HSE have been consulted on the 
application and do not advise against the granting permission for the development. 
 
National Grid and Cadent originally objected to the proposal, advising that the proposed access 
road was located over a high pressure gas pipeline (HPP).  However, further to the receipt of 
amended plans, which has formalised a parking arrangement to the west and would prevent 
persons from driving across the field, National Grid and Cadent have withdrawn their objection.  
 
f) Personal Circumstances 
The Applicant has not supplied any supporting information pertaining to their personal 
circumstances. As no evidence has been provided, it is not possible to substantiate whether the 
Applicant has any overriding personal circumstances such that the harm identified may be 
outweighed. 
  
The human rights impact has been considered, with particular reference to Article 1 of the First 
Protocol (Protection of property), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life) and Article 14 
(Prohibition of discrimination) of the Convention. The recommendation is considered appropriate in 
upholding the council's adopted and emerging policies and is not outweighed by any engaged 
rights, including the Public Sector Equality Duty. 
 
g) Other Matters 
The following matters have been raised within letters of representation that are not addressed 
above: 
 
- A second caravan has been placed on site & there are additional members of family living on site. 
 
Officer Response: It is understood that a second caravan has been introduced to the site, and was 
being lived in by a family member. However this is no longer the case and the Applicant has 
sought this be retained for additional storage. This however does not form part of this application, 
and if sought to be retained as such would need to be applied for under a separate planning 
application. The current application cannot consider unauthorised development that has or may 
take place.   
 
- A new gated entrance has been provided along a field margin, adjacent to the passing place. 
 
Officer Response: This does not require planning permission nor does it constitute a change of 
use.  
 
6 Conclusions 
 
The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.  No overriding public benefit has been identified such that the harm arising from the 
development would be outweighed.   

25



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Case Officer recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED for the following reasons: 
  
R 1 As a temporary planning permission has already been granted for the development, the 

residential caravan element must be considered as a permanent dwelling within the open 
countryside.  Insufficient evidence has been provided to demonstrate that: the enterprise 
has been planned on a sound financial basis; the need relates to a full-time worker; and the 
functional need cannot be fulfilled by an existing dwelling, or the conversion of an existing 
building in the area, or any other existing accommodation in the area which is suitable and 
available by the worker concerned. As such, the proposal is unacceptable in principle and 
contrary to Policy LP11, Part D (m, n and o) of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

 
R 2 Due to the proximity of the proposed satellite parking area to neighbouring dwellings and 

the associated coming and going of vehicles and persons in connection with the residential 
and business uses of the application site, unacceptably harmful levels of noise and 
disturbance to neighbouring residents would result. As such, the proposal would result in 
undue harm to neighbour amenity and is contrary to Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019). 

 
R 3 In the event that the field between the proposed satellite car park and application site 

become impassable through flooding (being situated within Flood Zones 2 and 3), persons 
in connection with the residential and business uses of the application site would be forced 
to use Waterworks Lane, a road subject to the national speed limit with no dedicated 
footway and unlit. As such, the development proposed would not provide a safe route from 
the satellite car park to the application site, and is therefore contrary to Policies LP13 and 
LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

 

Copies to Councillors 
 
Councillor Peter Hiller - peter.hiller@peterborough.gov.uk 
Councillor John Holdich - john.holdich@peterborough.gov.uk  

26



Application Reference: 19/00307/FUL  
 
Address: Buffingham Kennels, Waterworks Lane, Glinton, Peterborough, PE6 7LP 
 
Proposal: Proposed two-year temporary continuation of use of land and siting of mobile 
home in connection with, and use of, land, kennels and associated fencing as licenced 
establishment for breeding dogs  
 
Financial Information 
Members will recall that this application was deferred as financial information submitted in 
support of the application had not been formally considered by Officers within the Committee 
Report, which went to the heart of the matter of the first reason for refusal.  
 
The business use to which this application relates granted a temporary and personal 
permission in 2017 to establish whether the business was financially viable. The submitted 
accounts cover years 2015-2019, where it demonstrates that the Applicant secured an 
average net profit of £7,151 per annum after expenses, which includes repairs, admin costs, 
fuel, legal, professional and bank costs.  
 
In accordance with Policy LP11: Part D(m), it states that the nature of the business must 
relate to a full time worker, which Officers have set at a conservative 37 hour week.  
 
On the basis of the information submitted, and that the Applicant works at least 37 hours per 
week, this equates to an hourly rate of £3.19 per hour. Were the Applicant to work a 20 hour 
week, this becomes £5.77 per hour, and a 16 hour week, an average of £7.21 per hour.  
 
A useful comparison of minimum wages can be made by referring to the Gov.UK website, 
which sets out the minimum wage for Agricultural Workers, as well as the National Minimum 
Living Wage.  
 
According to the ‘Agricultural Minimum Wage’ for 39 hours of work, a minimum hourly rate of 
£6.96 should be paid to a Grade 2 worker, i.e. someone who is 18 years or older.  
 
Referring to the ‘National Living Wage’, as of April 2020, any person over the age of 25 
years should be paid a minimum of £8.72 per hour.  
 
As confirmed by the Gov.UK website, should the National Living Wage exceed the 
Agricultural Minimum Wage, the higher amount should be applicable.  
 
Officers understand that the net profit allows the Applicant to continue his modest lifestyle. 
However, it is understood that the Applicant’s wife is employed at a local care home, which 
may supplement their lifestyle. 
 
Notwithstanding this however, it should be emphasised that this application is not about the 
specific Applicant’s needs, it is a case of demonstrating that current and future owners could 
operate a financially sound business that has a functional need for a permanent dwelling in 
the open countryside.  
 
Based on the financial information provided it would not be possible for the Applicant to pay 
himself a National Living Wage, let alone the Agricultural Minimum Wage, for a 37 hour 
working week. As such it has not been demonstrated that ‘the unit and the … activity 
concerned … is currently financially sound with a clear prospect of remaining so…’, 
therefore the application is in conflict with Policy LP11 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019).  

27



It should be highlighted that Policy LP11 states, ‘after the three year temporary permission 
has expired, permission will only be granted for a permanent dwelling if the above criteria 
have been met. A further temporary period will not be permitted’.  

Other Matters 

The Agent has submitted additional information in support of the application; 

- Within the Committee report, none of the statutory consultees have objected to the 
proposal. 

Officer Response: Whilst there may be no objections from statutory consultees, this does not 
overrule or overcome principle planning issues, set out within the reasons for refusal below.  

- The Parish Council state that they would not oppose a further temporary extension 
personal to the Applicant. 

Officer Response: The Parish Council have advised they are opposed to the granting of a 
permanent consent. Were a further temporary consent permitted, this would be contrary to 
Policy LP11.  

- There are Personal Circumstances of the Applicant which need to be considered. 

Officer Response: These were considered as part of the original Committee Report. 

- The Applicant has a love for dogs, and the site is not a ‘puppy farm’. He is a licensed 
breeder with PCC for up to 12 litters per year. 

Officer Response: Noted, however as set out above, and based on the financial information 
provided, it has not been demonstrated that the business is financially sound.  

- Mr Greenhow and his wife have lived on the site since 2017 and during this time 
there have been no incidents or accidents on the road in the vicinity of the site. It is 
not a through road and is used by local traffic. The width of the road at the passing 
point is just over 7m and the layby can accommodate 3 or 4 vehicles. There is ample 
passing space even if a car is parked in the layby. 

Officer Response: Whilst it is not a through road, it does serve several residential dwellings, 
farms and a dog kennelling business, as well as the Etton Treatment Works and District 
Office, and carries a range of vehicles including and up to heavy goods vehicles. It should 
also be highlighted that the layby is a passing place, and should not be used for the parking 
of vehicles.  

- The pedestrian gate does not impact the wildlife corridor 

Officer Response: Noted. 

- Evidence submitted to Officers describes how the business operates; people 
interested in purchasing puppies are seen by appointment and arrangements are such 
that people do not arrive on site together. It is rare that there would be more than 2 or 
3 appointments a day, with visits averaging less than 2 or 3 per week and mainly at 
weekends when the road is most lightly used. The low frequency of visits cannot 

28



realistically be considered to have an adverse impact on residential amenity by virtue 
of traffic generation. 

Officer Response: As set out within the original Committee Report, Officers did not list traffic 
generation as an adverse impact to neighbour amenity per se. Reason for refusal number 2, 
which is listed below, stipulates concerns of the coming and going of vehicles from the 
proposed satellite parking area adjacent to neighbouring residential properties and the 
associated issues of noise and disturbance, particularly in an area where these residents will 
benefit from high levels of privacy and amenity given their remote location. It should be 
emphasised that this satellite parking area was required to be provided to overcome an 
objection from National Grid.  

- At the last planning committee meeting issues were raised concerning the use of a 
generator. The original caravan used a generator around 5 till 10 at night, however 
they haven’t used that caravan residentially for nearly 18 months and now live in the 
new caravan which is powered by solar power. The applicant uses the generator for 
charging domestic hand power tools that he uses on site. The generator is small and 
is never running for more than a couple of hours. Its use could be restricted to limited 
hours daytime hours to be agreed with officers through a condition.   

Officer Response: It should be highlighted that the second caravan, which is referred to 
above, does not have the benefit of planning permission, and requires planning permission 
in its own right. If the application were to be recommended for approval by Officers, a 
condition would be appropriate to control the use of generators on site.   

- The Applicant has built up a business which provides him with a modest income and 
a lifestyle which suits his personal circumstances. He could not provide the necessary 
welfare for the dogs and the business could not operate without his onsite presence. 
He does not cause harm or have adverse impact on residential amenity of the highway 
network and as far as possible keeps himself very much to himself. He has a very good 
name in the dog breeding community and wants to continue on the site for the next 2 
years. The Applicants hope that they are note penalised for adopting what is by most 
standards a very sustainable lifestyle and hope that you will lend your support this 
proposal. 

Officer Response: For the reasons set out above and within the original Committee Report, 
this application is not about the specific Applicant’s needs, it is a case of demonstrating that 
current and future owners could operate a financially sound business that has a functional 
need for a permanent dwelling in the open countryside. Officers do not contend that the use 
meets a functional need or the Applicant’s reputation, however it has not been demonstrated 
that the business is financially sound, and the proposal is contrary to Policy LP11.  

It should also be noted that the residential amenity of the ‘highway network’ is not a material 
planning consideration.  

As such the information submitted does not overcome Officers previous recommendation, 
and the reasons for refusal remain unchanged; 

R 1  As a temporary planning permission has already been granted for the 
development, the residential caravan element must be considered as a 
permanent dwelling within the open countryside. Insufficient evidence has 
been provided to demonstrate that the enterprise has been planned on a 
sound financial basis; the need relates to a full-time worker; and the functional 
need cannot be fulfilled by an existing dwelling, or the conversion of an 

29



existing building in the area, or any other existing accommodation in the area 
which is suitable and available by the worker concerned. As such, the 
proposal is unacceptable in principle and contrary to Policy LP11, Part D (m, 
n and o) of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  

R 2   Due to the proximity of the proposed satellite parking area to neighbouring 
dwellings and the associated coming and going of vehicles and persons in 
connection with the residential and business uses of the application site, 
unacceptably harmful levels of noise and disturbance to neighbouring 
residents would result. As such, the proposal would result in undue harm to 
neighbour amenity and is contrary to Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019).  

R 3   In the event that the field between the proposed satellite car park and 
application site become impassable through flooding (being situated within 
Flood Zones 2 and 3), persons in connection with the residential and 
business uses of the application site would be forced to use Waterworks 
Lane, a road subject to the national speed limit with no dedicated footway and 
unlit. As such, the development proposed would not provide a safe route from 
the satellite car park to the application site, and is therefore contrary to 
Policies LP13 and LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
 
 
 

30



THE SITE

Print Date: 19/02/2020

Planning Committee Location Plan - 19/01875/FUL - 30 High Street

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:1,000

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

Scale
31



This page is intentionally left blank

32



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Item No. 5.2 
 
Planning and EP Committee 9 June 2020 
 
Application Ref: 19/01875/FUL  
 
Proposal: Change of use from post office and flat to residential 
 
Site: 30 High Street, Eye, Peterborough, PE6 7UU 
Applicant: Mr And Mrs Mahendra Patel 
  
Agent: Mr John Hartley, J J & J Hartley 
 
Referred by: Councillor Simons 
Reason: Sufficient evidence has been submitted to demonstrate that the business 

use is not viable 
  
Site visit: 19.01.2020 
 
Case officer: Mr Jack Gandy 
Telephone No. 01733 452595 
E-Mail: jack.gandy@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: REFUSE   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
The application site comprises a two storey detached building with a Class A1 retail unit at ground 
floor (formerly also housing a Post Office which has since closed) and residential use at first floor.  
There are canopies above the large shop windows to the principal elevation, and external roller 
shutters to these and the entrance door.  There is a second entrance door serving the rear store 
area and residential unit at first floor, located set back from the principal elevation to the west. 
 
The site is located within the identified Local Centre for the village of Eye, and also within the Eye 
Conservation Area.  The property adjacent (No.28 to the east) is subject to protection by way of an 
Article 4 Direction, and there are surrounding Listed Buildings. 
 
The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character, albeit there is a commercial 
premises to the east, and the Leeds Hall directly opposite.   
 
Proposal 
The application seeks planning permission to change the use of the site from mixed retail and 
residential to a single residential dwellinghouse.  The proposal also includes associated external 
changes including removal of the existing shopfronts and canopies, insertion of 2no. smaller 
windows and a personnel door to the principal elevation, and bricking up to make good the 
principal elevation.   
 
For the avoidance of doubt, during the consideration of an earlier application (identical to this, 
reference 19/01337/FUL which was withdrawn by the Applicant), the Post Office ceased operating, 
however the retail unit remains in operation.   
 

33



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
19/01337/FUL Change of use from post office and flat to 

residential only 
Withdrawn 
by Applicant  

12/12/2019 

18/01758/FUL Security shutters to two windows and front 
door (retrospective) 

Permitted  04/12/2018 

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions.  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area or its setting, or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
 
Paragraph 192 - Proposals affecting heritage assets 
In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of: the desirability of 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses 
consistent with their conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can 
make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
LP02 - The Settle Hierarchy and the Countryside  
The location/scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Proposals 
within village envelopes will be supported in principle, subject to them being of an appropriate 
scale. Development in the open countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met. 
 
LP12 - Retail and Other Town Centre Uses  
Development should accord with the Retail Strategy which seeks to promote the City Centre and 
where appropriate district and local centres. Retail development will be supported within the 
primary shopping area. Non retail uses in the primary shopping area will only be supported where 
the vitality and viability of the centre is not harmed. Only retail proposals within a designated 
centre, of an appropriate scale, will be supported. A sequential approach will be applied to retail 
and leisure development outside of designated centres. 
 
The loss of village shops will only be accepted subject to certain conditions being met. New shops 
or extensions will be supported in connection with planned growth and where it would create a 
more sustainable community subject to amenity and environmental considerations provided it is of 
an appropriate scale. 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development - Permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 

34



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

 
LP13c) Parking Standards - Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Amenity of Existing Occupiers - Permission will not be granted for development which 
would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Amenity of Future Occupiers - Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 
only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 
 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services (09.01.20) 
No objections - Historically the building consisted of two separate dwellings. There is ample space 
to the rear of the site to accommodate the parking and turning requirements of one single dwelling. 
It is the view of the Local Highway Authority that the proposed change of use shall have no 
material impact upon the adjacent public highway. 
 
PCC Pollution Team (29.01.20) 
No objections - The property is located on a busy high street and as such there is the potential for 
noise disturbance. The adjacent takeaway, community hall, MOT testing station and shops have 
the potential to cause noise disturbance from patrons, plant noise, deliveries and bin collections. 
Odour from the adjacent takeaway is also a possibility.  
 
It is noted that the property is located in an area where there are a number of residential properties 
and as such this property is at no greater risk from noise disturbance than others in the area. 
Additionally the type of noise in the locality would be difficult to control and is part of living in a high 
street location.  
 
PCC Conservation Officer (27.01.20) 
No objection - From a heritage consideration there is no substantial objection.  There is some 
concern that the change of use will result in a detracting impact on the vitality of the village high 
street and as such the Eye Conservation Area.  The property is particularly prominent within the 
conservation area and visible in the setting of listed buildings as such, detailing for the external 
changes should be secured by condition to ensure a sympathetic finish within the CA.   
 

35



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

PCC Waste Management  
No comments received. 
 
Eye Parish Council (17.01.20) 
No comments. 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 8 
Total number of responses: 1 
Total number of objections: 0 
Total number in support: 1 
 
Councillor Simons has expressed his support for the proposal, advising that he considers the 
shop is no longer viable as a Post Office (with Post Offices creating less income needing to be 
incorporated into larger general stores) with the new Co-op store and Eye store in direct 
competition as a general store within close proximity. Believe that the applicants have sufficient 
information to prove the store is not viable.  In addition, the applicants have unsuccessfully tried to 
sell the Post Office as a going concern, with evidence to prove this.  Although the Councillor would 
welcome a Post Office in one of the larger units. 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 

 Principle of development 

 Design and impact to the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding Eye 
Conservation Area 

 Neighbour amenity 

 Highway safety and parking provision 

 Future occupant amenity 
 
a) Principle of development 
 
As detailed in Section 1 above, the site previously hosted a Post Office.  During consideration of 
the previous, withdrawn application, Officers considered the Post office to be a 'community facility' 
for consideration against the provisions of Policy LP30 of the adopted Local Plan. However, as the 
Post Office has now closed (which did not require the benefit of planning permission) and only the 
Class A1 retail use remains, it is instead the provisions of Policy LP12 that must be considered. 
 
The application site is located within the designated Eye Local Centre, and within such Local 
Centres, the entire area is designated as the Primary Shopping Area. Policy LP12 states: 
 

‘Within the Primary Shopping Frontage (PSF) of the District Centres or within Local Centres, 
planning permission for any non-A1 use at ground floor level will only be granted if the 
development would maintain or enhance the vitality and viability of the centre and appearance 
of the frontage.’ 

 
It goes on to further state: 
 

‘Every effort will be made to prevent the loss of an existing village shop which sustains a village 
community, by permitting additional uses which would help to improve its financial viability. The 
loss of an existing village shop will only be permitted if provision to replace the facility is made or 
it can be demonstrated that the present use is no longer viable.’ 

 
Turning first to the matter of the vitality/viability of the centre and appearance of the frontage, the 
proposed residential use would not maintain or preserve the retail/town centre use offering within 
the village, or maintain a retail frontage within the Primary Shopping Area (PSA).  Whilst it is 

36



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

acknowledged that there is a relatively sizeable supermarket within the village, there are relatively 
few main town centre uses within the identified Local Centre and the proposal has not 
demonstrated that the loss proposed would not harm the offering within the village.   
 
Notwithstanding this, the policy does permit the loss of an existing village shop subject to either: re-
provision of the facility; or upon demonstration that the present use is no longer viable.  The 
Applicant has submitted confidential, commercially sensitive, supporting financial information with 
the application, the contents of which are included within the exempt annexe attached to this 
report.  In addition, they have provided marketing information to demonstrate that the property has 
been marked since March 2017, with two different sales agents.   
 
Whilst Officers acknowledge that the incomes derived by the Applicants are not considerable, and 
that the net profit from the business has declined since 2017 by approximately 25%, the gross 
profit and Post Office income has been relatively consistent over 2017 and 2018, only declining in 
the year to end of January 2019.  Furthermore, no information of accounts prior to 2017, the time 
at which the Applicants chose to sell the business, has been provided to demonstrate whether 
there has been a significant decline caused by the opening of the Co-Operative supermarket (in 
April 2016).  Further, the Post Office income was relatively considerable compared to the other 
retail income, yet the Applicant’s chose to retire from offering this service and therefore reduce the 
income derived from the application site.   
 
With regards to the information submitted in terms of marketing the site/business for sale, the 
site/business has been marketed since 2017 with 2no. agents, neither of whom are local to the 
Peterborough area.  For a period of 12 months from March 2017 the site was marketed on a 
leasehold basis, then thereafter on a freehold basis.  The Applicant has confirmed that in March 
2019, a sale was agreed however this fell through, with no reasons given as to why.   
 
Whilst Officers are sympathetic to the situation of the Applicants, it is not considered that sufficient 
information has been presented to enable a conclusion to be reached that the business is not 
viable in the long-term.  Further, insufficient marketing of the site/business has taken place and 
interest has been shown, as evidenced by the Applicant’s in so far as a sale having been agreed.  
Accordingly, it is not considered that the proposal meets with the requirements of Policy LP12 in 
terms of permitting the loss of the retail unit in the village.    
 
On the basis of the above, the principle of development is unacceptable and contrary to Policy 
LP12 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
b) Design and impact to the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding Eye 
Conservation Area 
 
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site is located within the Eye Conservation Area 
(CA). Under Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Area) Act 1990 (as 
amended), special regard is placed on the desirability of preserving Conservation Areas.  This is 
further reinforced through both national and local planning policies, which attach great weight to 
the need to preserve designated heritage assets.   
 
Although located within the CA, the City Council’s Conservation Officer does not consider the 
application site to be a building of significant architectural merit, a view shared by Officers. 
However, its front elevation is prominent along the High Street and as such, due consideration 
must be given to the impact any proposal may have upon the appearance and setting of the 
heritage assets.   
 
The proposal to change the use of the site also includes external changes to the principal elevation 
through the removal of the existing shop front/windows/canopies and the installation of 2no. 
windows and a door.  The Conservation Officer considers that, overall, the indicative arrangement 
of the windows and doors proposed is positive and would represent an improvement compared to 
the existing frontage of the site.  However, the proposal is lacking in detail with regards to the 

37



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

brick/mortar, cills, lintels, windows and doors to be used.  It is essential that all of the above are of 
a suitable match and quality, to ensure that no harm results to the character of the streetscene or 
CA.  Such details could reasonably be secured by condition in the event that permission were 
granted.   
 
Further to the external changes, the Conservation Officer has also raised concern that the 
proposed change of use would result in a detracting impact upon the vitality of the village high 
street and as such, the Eye Conservation Area.  Notwithstanding the position as set out in part (a) 
above, Officers do not consider that significant undue harm would result to the CA in the event that 
the shop were lost to a residential use.  The proposal would ensure that an active, albeit 
residential, frontage was maintained within the streetscene which is considered sufficient to 
preserve the setting of the CA.  
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Section 72 (1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Area) Act 1990 (as amended) and Policies LP16 and 
LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
c) Neighbour amenity 
 
There are no extensions or enlargements proposed. As such, it is not considered that there would 
be additional overbearing or shadowing impacts that would adversely impact upon the amenity of 
surrounding neighbours. 
 
The proposed ground floor windows would serve the dining and living rooms of the proposed 
residential unit, and would face towards Leeds Hall and No. 39 High Street. There is approximately 
17.5 metres between the front elevations of the application site and No. 39 High Street and it is 
noted that the existing shopfront currently has windows that face towards this neighbour. It is not 
considered therefore that the proposal would alter this relationship or result in unacceptable loss of 
privacy to the residential properties opposite.  
 
In addition, the proposed change of use would result in a far less intensive use of the application 
site, with residential comings and goings which would be far less frequent that the current retail 
shop.  As such, the proposal would, to some degree, result in less noise and general disturbance 
to surrounding residential dwellings.   
 
On the basis of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
d) Highway safety and parking provision 
 
The existing sues of the application site are currently served by an on-site garage and driveway, 
with access onto the High Street. Although the existing access arrangement is awkward given the 
zebra crossing to the front of the site, the Local Highway Authority (LHA) has advised that there is 
sufficient space to the rear of site to allow for two parking spaces and turning. Accordingly, the 
proposed residential use would be able to achieve the required minimum parking provision of 2no. 
spaces on-site.   
 
Notwithstanding the above, Officers acknowledge that the proposed use as a single dwellinghouse 
would be less intensive in terms of parking demand than the existing retail unit with residential flat 
above which would place less pressure upon the public highway in terms of on-street parking 
provision. 
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
 
 

38



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

6 Conclusions 
 
The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below. 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Planning Permission is 
REFUSED for the following reason: 
 
 
R1 Insufficient information has been presented to enable a conclusion to be reached that the 

existing retail business is not viable currently or in the long-term.  Furthermore, insufficient 
marketing of the site/business has taken place and interest has been shown such that it 
cannot be concluded that the business is not viable for sale to another party.  Accordingly, it 
is not considered that the proposal meets with the requirements of Policy LP12 in terms of 
permitting the loss of the retail unit in the village of Eye.  

 
 
Copies to Councillors Allen, Brown and Simons. 
  
  
 

39



This page is intentionally left blank

40



Document is Restricted

41

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

43

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



The Site

Print Date: 28/11/2019

Planning Committee Location Plan- 19/01469/HHFUL 184 Mayors Walk West Town Peterborough PE3 6HQ

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:2,500

0 30 60 90 12015
Meters

Scale
83



This page is intentionally left blank

84



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Item No. 5.3 
 
Planning and EP Committee  
 
Application Ref: 20/00235/HHFUL  
 
Proposal: First floor extension above garage and single storey side and rear 

extension 
 
Site: 184 Mayors Walk, West Town, Peterborough, PE3 6HQ 
Applicant: Mr A Iqbal 
  
Agent: Mr J Wilson 
 Remway Design Ltd 
Site visit: 22.05.2020 
 
Referred By: Head of Planning Services 
Reason: Applicant is a Councillor 
 
Case officer: Mr D Jolley 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 453414 
E-Mail: david.jolley@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: REFUSE   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
The application site comprises a two storey link-detached (semi-detached in planning-terms) 
residential dwelling located on the northern side of Mayors Walk, within the urban area of 
Peterborough.  The property is of red brick construction, with render to the first floor and 
architectural detailing in the form of a gable and bay window to the principal elevation.   
 
The property has previously been extended by two storeys to the side, of flat roof construction and 
containing a garage, single storey to the rear and with a dormer window within the rear-facing roof 
slope.   
 
There is parking provision for 2no. cars to the front of the site, with dropped kerb access from 
Mayors Walk.  
 
Proposal 
The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a first floor extension above the 
existing garage (to the rear of the existing flat roof extension), alteration to the roof of the existing 
side extension (replacing from flat roof to dual pitched roof); and construction of a single storey 
rear extension. 
 
It should be noted that development has already commenced in the form of footings having been 
dug and therefore the application is part-retrospective.   
 
N.B. This application is a resubmission of refused application 19/01469/HHFUL. This proposal 
reduces the depth of the ground floor rear extension from 12.93 metres to 10.8 metres. 
 

85



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
19/01469/HHFUL First floor extension above existing garage, 

change to roof type and single storey rear 
extension (part-retrospective) 

Refused  19/12/2019 

 
 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Submission) 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development- Permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP13d) City Centre- All proposal must demonstrate that careful consideration has been given to 
prioritising pedestrian access, to improving access for those with mobility issues, to encouraging 
cyclists and to reducing the need for vehicles to access the area. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Enforcement Team  
No comments received 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 

86



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

Initial consultations: 5 
Total number of responses: 1 
Total number of objections: 1 
Total number in support: 0 
 
A single objection has been received in relation to the proposal stating; 
 
This application was refused in Dec 2019 (19/01469/HHFUL) and I believe has been re-submitted 
due to the fact there are new tenants in my property since the last hearing. 
 
When the last hearing went ahead I was the owner and occupier of the property. Now I am the 
owner and the property is rented out. Although I no longer live at the address I still have an interest 
in it and therefore I object to this extension for the following and same reasons as I did before. 
 
The size of the foundations dug show the scale of the extension and I believe this to be very 
overbearing. 
 
The foundations are so big that I cannot see how the side of the extension will not have windows 
that will look out on to my property, should this planning application be granted then I believe I will 
have a reduction in the levels of privacy. 
 
The closeness of the 'already dug' foundations to the boundary of the property show that the wall 
will be next to the fence and this will impact on my property due to a loss of sunlight and daylight in 
the kitchen area of the property. The kitchen is the most important room in the house as it is the 
center of the families day-to-day living. It is shown that family and guests often gather in the 
kitchen to socialise, eat and cook together. The kitchen is the 'bonding' area that not only ties the 
home together, it ties loved ones together. Should the sunlight be cut from this room due to the 
proposed extension then the main living area of the property will be seriously effected. 
 
I have a mature garden that has been here for almost 100 years and an extension of this size will 
impede on this. The size of the gardens in this area are large which I understand means an 
extension would fit in the garden, however this does mean we have a variety of birds and wildlife 
that both live here and visit. 
 
A large extension will more than likely put an end to this. My property has a mature tree next to the 
boundary fence and the completion of these foundations will impact on this, believe that 
Peterborough City Council has recently declared a 'climate emergency' and I hope that this covers 
giving more thought to 'overbearing extensions' that will impact on the green areas in this city and 
change the habits of wildlife and trees. 
 
I do not object to the extension above the garage as this has zero bearing on my property. 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 
 

 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area 

 Neighbour amenity 

 Parking and highway implications  
 
Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
Turning first to the roof alterations proposed to the existing side extension, it is considered that 
these would be of significant improvement to the overall appearance of the application property.  At 
present, the flat roof form of the extension appears an incongruous and discordant feature within 
the streetscene whilst the proposal would respect and reflect the roof form of the host dwelling and 
others within the locality.  Further, the slightly dropped eaves and ridge heights would introduce 
subservience to this element such that the resultant dwelling does not appear unduly dominant 

87



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

within the streetscene. Appropriately matching materials could readily be secured by condition to 
ensure harmony. 
 
To the rear, the proposed first floor extension would have no material impact upon the character of 
the locality.  With regards to the single storey extension proposed, it is acknowledged that this 
would be of considerable size and scale which fails to respect the proportions of the host 
dwellinghouse.  However, large extensions are already present within the immediate environs of 
the site, most notably at No.186 Mayors Walk to the immediate west which has recently 
constructed a considerable rear extension (permitted under application reference 
17/00254/HHFUL).  Furthermore, the plot is of considerable size that could readily accommodate a 
large degree of development without appearing cramped or overdeveloped.  As such, it is 
considered that no undue harm would result to the character of the area. 
 
On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm 
to the character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area and is therefore in 
accordance with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
Neighbour amenity 
Turning first to the proposed roof alterations, these would not alter the relationship to the 
neighbouring dwelling of No.186 Mayors Walk (to the east).  The proposed first floor side extension 
would create additional two storey development along the shared boundary with this neighbour, 
and would project beyond the line of the existing rear elevation.  However, the closest windows 
that would be subject to impact from the proposal serve a bathroom and landing, with the facing 
landing window required to be obscurely glazed in perpetuity (by virtue of a condition imposed 
upon planning permission reference 17/00254/HHFUL).  As such, no undue overbearing impact or 
loss of daylight would result to occupants. 
 
With regards to the proposed single storey rear extension, this would project 10.8 metres from the 
rear elevation of the existing dwellinghouse along the shared boundary with No.182 Mayors Walk 
to the east.  Whilst this neighbouring dwelling has a single storey extension to the rear which 
projects approximately 4.3 metres in close proximity to the shared boundary, the proposal would 
extend 8 metres beyond.  Whilst single storey in height (2.45 metres to the eaves) and with a dual 
pitched roof that slopes away from the shared boundary (maximum height 3.9 metres to the ridge), 
it is considered that this length of development would result in an unduly dominant, obtrusive and 
overbearing feature to the neighbouring property's garden area and primary habitable rooms.  
Furthermore, some degree of overshadowing (the proposal being due west of the neighbour) 
would result and for the length of extension, this is considered to be unacceptable.   
 
Under the previously refused application, Amendments were suggested by Officers to overcome 
this issue - principally to reduce the length of extension along the shared boundary to no more than 
6 metres (in line with 'permitted development' tolerances) with then a staggered arrangement such 
that the length proposed could be achieved provided that it was set away by 3m from the shared 
boundary.  In effect, this would create an 'L-shaped' extension. This advice is not reflected in this 
subsequent application.  
 
It is also accepted that a similarly unacceptable relationship currently exists between the 
application site and the neighbour to the west, No.166.  The considerable extensions to this 
property result in an unduly dominant and overbearing relationship. However, as is long-
established, each proposal must be considered on its own merits and there is no precedent in 
planning-terms.  This neighbouring extension was only considered acceptable given the 
development that existed on the site beforehand.  The extension replaced an existing single storey 
garage and car port that ran along the shared boundary by a length of approximately 22 metres.  
Therefore it was considered that the impact of the proposal did not alter this existing relationship.  
There is no such development along the shared boundary of the application site and the proposal 
would represent new development that would give rise to unacceptable harm to the amenities of 
occupants of No.182 Mayors Walk. 
 

88



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would result in an unacceptable degree of harm to 
the amenities of neighbouring occupants and is therefore contrary to Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
Parking and highway implications  
It is noted that the objector has raised concerns with regards to the level of parking provision within 
the site.  The proposal would not result in any increase in the number of bedrooms within the 
application property and therefore, there would be no increased parking demand generated.  
Furthermore, the existing parking provision would not be affected by the proposal and therefore, no 
highway implications would result. 
  
Conclusions 
The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.  The harm identified is not considered to be outweighed by the benefits of the 
proposal. 
 
6 Conclusions 
 
The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below. 
 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The case officer recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED 
 
  
  
R 1 The proposed rear extension, by virtue of its size, scale and siting, would result in an 

unacceptable degree of overbearing and overshadowing impact to the primary habitable 
rooms and outdoor amenity area of No.182 Mayors Walk. This would result in an 
unacceptable degree of harm to the amenities of occupants of this neighbouring dwelling 
and is therefore contrary to Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

 

Copies to Councillors 

 

Councillor Mahboob Hussain- Mahboob.Hussain@peterborough.gov.uk 

Councillor Amjad Idbal- Amjad.Iqbal@peterborough.gov.uk 

Councillor Mohammed Jamil- Mohammed.Jamil@peterborough.gov.uk 

 

 

89

mailto:Mahboob.Hussain@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Amjad.Iqbal@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Mohammed.Jamil@peterborough.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

90


	Agenda
	4.1 30 March 2019
	4.2 12 May 2019
	5.1 19/00307/FUL - Buffingham Kennels, Waterworks Lane, Glinton, Peterborough
	Item 5.1 19 00307 FUL - Committee Report (1)
	Item 5.1 - 19 00307 FUL - Addendum - Committee Update (1)

	5.2 19/01875/FUL - 30 High Street, Eye, Peterborough, PE6 7UU
	Item 5.2 - 19.01875.FUL FINAL Committee Report
	Item 5.2 Confidential - Exempt annex for 19 01875 FUL
	Exempt Annexes 1-6

	5.3 20/00235/HHFUL - 184 Mayors Walk, West Town, Peterborough
	Item 5.3 - 20 00235 HHFUL 184 Mayors Walk




